IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

LAWRENCE JOEY SMITH, :

Appellant, :

vs. : Case No.SC01-2103

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee. :

:

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT IN AND FOR PASCO COUNTY STATE OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JAMES MARION MOORMAN
PUBLIC DEFENDER
TENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

PAUL C. HELM Assistant Public Defender FLORIDA BAR NUMBER 0229687

Public Defender's Office Polk County Courthouse

P. O. Box 9000--Drawer PD Bartow, FL 33831 (863) 534-4200

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANT

TOPICAL

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Pasco County Grand Jury indicted the appellant, Lawrence Joey Smith, and his codefendant, Faunce L. Pearce, for Count One, the first-degree premeditated murder of Robert Crawford on September 14, 1999, and Count Two, the attempted first-degree premeditated murder of Stephen Tuttle on the same date. [V1, 5-6]

Smith was separately tried by jury before Circuit Judge Maynard F. Swanson, Jr., on April 30 to May 3, 2001. [V10, 1, 3; V15, 710] The court denied the defense motion for judgment of acquittal. [V 670-71] The jury found Smith guilty as charged on both counts. [V4, 689, 691] The penalty phase trial was held on May 4, 2001. [V16, 840] The jury recommended death by a vote of 8 to 4. [V16, 688] The Spencer hearing held on July 13, 2001. [V9, 1661]

On August 17, 2001, the court sentenced Smith to death for Count One, first-degree murder and to life imprisonment for Count Two, attempted first-degree murder. [V9, 1587-95, 1698, 1700-26]

Defense counsel filed a notice of appeal to the Second District Court of Appeal on August 31, 2001. [V9, 1596] He filed an amended notice of appeal to this Court on October 1, 2001. [V9, 1737]

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Voir Dire

There is no indication in the record that the prospective jurors were sworn prior to their questioning on voir dire, nor that defense counsel objected to failure to swear them. [V10, 1-10]

The prosecutor made the following comments to the prospective jurors without objection by the defense:

Here's the situation. You found the existence of an aggravated circumstance or circumstances proven beyond a reasonable doubt. You found that that [sic] aggravating circumstance or circumstances justify the imposition of the death penalty. You go back to the evidence, you look to mitigating circumstances. If you find that there are no mitigating circumstances, your job is over. Your recommendation to the Court is the verdict of death.

If, however, after reviewing the evidence, you find the existence of mitigating circumstances, then the weighing process begins. this is not a numbers game. It's not, "Well, there's three aggravators over here, and four mitigators over here. Four versus three, four wins." It's not like that. It's a weighing If you find, based upon this weighsituation. ing situation that the aggravating circumstances outweigh the mitigating circumstances, then your recommendation to the Court is one of If you find that the aggravating circumstances are outweighed by the mitigating circumstances, then your recommendation to the Court is one of life.

[V10, 95-96]

Trial Evidence

Faunce Pearce wanted to buy a book of 1,000 geltabs of acid

(LSD) for \$1,200. On the evening of September 13, 1999, he went to
the home of Bryon Loucks, Loucks' girlfriend, and her son, Ken Shook,
at We Shelter America, 3600 Land O'Lakes Boulevard, in Pasco County.

[V12, 293-94, 300-04, 308, 322-23; V13, 396] Shook called his friend
Stephen Tuttle. [V 12, 303, 323; V13, 391, 415] Tuttle called
Amanda Havner. She tried to get a book of geltabs, but could only
get one for \$1500. [V12, 343] Tuttle then called Tanya Barcomb and
told her he wanted a book of acid. [V12, 343; V13, 373] A book of
acid normally sells for \$1,000 to \$1,700. Barcomb told him she would
call someone to find out. [V13, 373] Tuttle called Barcomb back.
She told him she could get the acid, but Barcomb and her fiance Chris
DiRosa actually were planning to make fake geltabs to rob them.

[V13, 374-75] Tuttle denied calling anyone to try to get the acid.

[V13, 391]

Havner picked up Tuttle and Robert Crawford and went to We Shelter America. They told Pearce they could get the drugs. [V12, 300, 303-04, 323-24, 344, 392-93] Tuttle denied talking to Pearce about the drug transaction. [V13, 393] Pearce gave the \$1200 to Shook, who gave it to Tuttle. [V12, 304, 324, 344; V13, 393] Pearce told them, "This is your life. Bring back the money or the dope." [V12, 355; V13, 412-13] Shook and his friends departed to get the

drugs. [V12, 304, 324, 344] Pearce remained at the house with Loucks for about two and a half hours. [V12, 304]

Shook and his friends went to Johnny's house, where Barcomb and DiRosa were staying, before they could make the fake geltabs.

Barcomb, DiRosa, and Havner then went to the Palms of Livingston.

[V12, 324, 345; V13, 374-76, 393-94] DiRosa and Barcomb went into an apartment. DiRosa put the money in his shoe. [V13, 376] DiRosa hit himself in the face to make it appear that he had been "jacked."

[V13, 377] When they returned to the car, DiRosa was holding his eye. They told Havner they were jacked at gunpoint. [V12, 346; V13, 377] When they returned to Johnny's house, they told Tuttle, Shook, and Crawford they had been "ripped off" and did not get the drugs.

[V12, 324, 346-47; V13, 378, 394]

Barcomb called Chippy, her drug dealer, and told him they had been jacked and needed \$1,000. Chippy told her she had jacked Pearce and Butterfield. [V13, 378, 386] Barcomb told Tuttle, Crawford, Havner, and Shook that Chippy would meet them at the Palms of Livingston and get them the money. [V13, 378] Havner, Shook, Crawford, and Tuttle went to the Palms of Livingston. Shook knocked on the door, but no one answered. [V12, 324-25, 347-48; V13, 394-95] They returned to Johnny's house to confront Barcomb. [V12, 348] Havner snuck into the house. Barcomb said she did not have the money. Johnny's dad told Havner to leave or he would call the

police. [V12 348; V13, 379-80] Shook knocked on the door. A man answered the door and told them to leave or he would call the police. [V12, 325]

Meanwhile, Loucks pressed redial on the phone, and Barcomb answered. She was hysterical. She said the kids were there demanding that she return the money, but she had been ripped off. [V12, 305, 327] Loucks told Pearce what Barcomb said. Pearce was angry and said he had to go find out where his money was. [V12, 305-06]

Shook and his friends returned to We Shelter America. [V12, 306, 325, 327, 348; V13, 395] They told Pearce that Barcomb had taken the money. [V12, 349; V13, 396] Pearce waved a black pistol and ordered them into the office. In the office, Pearce was waving the gun around and threatening them. [V12, 306-07, 314, 327-28, 335-36, 349-50, 355-56; V13, 396-97, 413] Pearce said, "It's time to pay the consequences," and, "We're going to get this money back." Havner called Barcomb, who said she could not get the money back. [V12, 307-08, 313] Havner told Barcomb, "Well, they are here and they have a whole bunch of guns, and they are going to kill us if we don't get the money." [V13, 380] Barcomb said Chippy was going to take care of it, and she was going to call Havner's brother. [V12, 350]

Barcomb went to Joseph Havner's door, handed him a phone number, and said his sister was in trouble. [V13, 365, 382] Barcomb and DiRosa then went to the Double Tree hotel. Barcomb called the

Hillsborough County Sheriff's Office from a gas station and told them to send officers to We Shelter America because her friends were in a hostage situation. [V13, 382-83]

At We Shelter America, Pearce grabbed Amanda Havner by the throat, slammed her head against the wall, and pointed his gun at her head. [V12, 308, 315, 329, 336, 350-51, 356; V13, 397, 413] Pearce told Havner to shut up or he was going to shoot her. [V12, 351] He also threatened Tuttle. [V12, 356-57] Tuttle begged Pearce to allow him to leave, but Pearce replied that he wanted his money. [V13, 399] Loucks asked Pearce to stop, and Pearce put the gun down. Havner said she could call Chippy to try to get the drugs. Pearce called Chippy. [V12, 308-09, 326] Pearce also called his friend Teddy Butterfield for help. [V12, 329, 352, 357; V13, 423]

Butterfield was at Damian Smith's house, a duplex connected to Pearce's house. Heath Brittingham was also there. Joey Smith was in the park. Pearce wanted Butterfield to get Smith and go to We Shelter America. Butterfield, Joey Smith, and Brittingham got a ride from Nathan Smith. They took their firearms at Pearce's request.

[V13, 423, 444, 464-65] Butterfield had a small .25 or .22 handgun. Brittingham had a 12-gauge shotgun. Joey Smith had a 9 mm. [V13, 424, 440-41, 465] Butterfield and Brittingham had been involved in prior drug deals with Pearce. [V13, 460, 467-68, 496]

Joseph Havner called We Shelter America and asked Amanda when she was coming home. She uncharacteristically answered that she would be home right away. [V12, 352-53; V13, 366] Joseph drove to We Shelter America, and Pearce allowed Amanda to drive away. [V12 309, 330, 352-53; V13, 367-68] Before Amanda left, Pearce told her he was going to take the boys home. [V12, 353]

Pearce put his gun to Tuttle's head, took him outside the office, and forced Tuttle to lie face down on the ground. Pearce stood over Tuttle with the gun and threatened to kill him. [V12, 316, 332, 336; V13, 399-400] Pearce forced Tuttle to perform an oral sex act. [V13, 400]

Butterfield, Joey Smith, and Brittingham arrived at We Shelter America. [V12, 310, 321, 332, 336-37; V13, 400-01, 424, 465] They had two pistols and a shotgun. [V12, 310, 330; V13, 401, 440, 465, 485] Brittingham testified that Smith spoke to Pearce, but Brittingham could not hear what they said. [V13, 466] Pearce told them Tuttle and Crawford were going to show them where the people who ripped him off lived. They were there as backup for getting the money back from the drug dealers. [V13, 424-26, 441-42] Butterfield and Brittingham denied that they or Smith ever threatened Tuttle or Crawford. Pearce was holding a .40 caliber pistol, but he was not threatening anyone. [V13, 424-25, 441-42, 467-69] Smith said they were going to take care of business. [V12, 310, 330, 332] Smith,

Butterfield, and Brittingham did not threaten Shook or point a weapon at him. [V12, 330, 337] Shook testified that they appeared to be under the influence of drugs; they were "all messed up." [V12, 338] Butterfield denied that he, Smith, or Brittingham had been drinking or taking drugs that night. [V13, 454]

Pearce was in charge. [V12, 316, 337; V13, 401, 414] They were going to take Tuttle and Crawford in Pearce's car. Loucks told Pearce he would not allow him to take Shook. Loucks offered to take the boys home and to give Pearce his money in the morning. [V12, 310, 329, 332] Pearce refused the offer. He said he was not going to hurt the boys. He would take them down the road, punch them in the mouth, and make them walk home. [V12, 311]

Pearce threatened Tuttle and Crawford with his gun when he ordered them to get in the car, although Tuttle said Pearce was not pointing the gun at him at that time. [V12, 311, 333; V13, 402] Tuttle did not remember being verbally threatened by anyone other than Pearce. [V13, 417] Pearce told Loucks to wait by the phone without calling law enforcement. He said Loucks would hear from the boys. [V12, 311]

Two deputies came to We Shelter America after Pearce drove away with Butterfield, Smith, Brittingham, Tuttle, and Crawford. Loucks told the deputies they had just left in the car. [V12, 311, 333]

The deputies wanted to look in Loucks' house to see if Tuttle and the

other boys were there. [V12, 311-12] The deputies received a message that Tuttle and Crawford had been shot in the back of the head. Shook then told them what had happened. [V12, 334] Later on, Butterfield threatened Shook and called him a narc or a snitch two or three times. [V12, 338-39] Butterfield denied threatening Shook. [V13, 455]

Pearce's car was a brown Firebird, Trans Am, or Camaro with Ttops. Tuttle and Brittingham said the T-tops were off the car, while
Butterfield said they were on the car. [V13, 402, 411-12, 427, 445,
456, 469-70, 491] Pearce was driving, Smith was in the front passenger seat, Butterfield was in the left rear passenger seat, Crawford
was in the middle, Tuttle sat on Crawford's lap, and Brittingham was
in the right rear passenger seat with the shotgun between his legs.
[V13 402-03, 416, 428-29, 470-71, 502] After leaving We Shelter
America, Pearce drove south on U.S. 41, turned right on State Road
54, then drove about three to ten miles. [V13, 403, 428-30, 471-72]
While they were driving on 41, Smith said his 9 mm pistol jammed and
exchanged it for Pearce's .40 caliber pistol. [V13, 429-30, 471-72,
491-92]

Pearce turned the car around and stopped on the side of the road. Pearce ordered Tuttle to get out of the car on the passenger side. Smith got out of the car first and stood between the door and the car while Tuttle crawled out. [V13, 404-05, 410, 430, 432, 450-

52, 472-73, 492] In a deposition, Tuttle did not recall anyone getting out of the car other than himself. [V13, 410-11] Butterfield testified that Pearce told Smith to break Tuttle's jaw. [V13, 430] Brittingham testified that Pearce said, "Pop him in the fucking jaw." Smith replied, "F that," then spun around and shot Tuttle in the back of the head. [V13, 473-74] Butterfield heard, but did not see, the gunshot. [V13, 430, 432, 445, 453] Smith got back in the car. [V13, 432, 475] Brittingham testified that Pearce asked, "Is he dead," and Smith replied, "Yeah, he's dead. I shot him in the head with a F'ing .40." [V13, 475]

Pearce drove about two hundred yards, then stopped the car again. Smith got out and stepped to the other side of the door.

Pearce told Crawford to get out of the car. [V13, 432-33, 455, 475]

According to Brittingham, Crawford said, "Don't. Please don't."

Smith fired a shot, Crawford fell, then Smith stood over him and fired again. [V13, 475-76] Butterfield said he saw two gunshots.

[V13, 432-33, 445]

Butterfield testified, "When Joey got back in the car, he had made a statement that that was the 13th or 14th people that had been -- that he had shot." [V13, 433] Defense counsel objected and moved for a mistrial on the ground Butterfield implied that Smith had committed other murders and that was irrelevant and extremely prejudicial. [V13, 433-34] The court ruled, "I will deny it. The Court

specifically finds it was part of the testimony." [V13, 434] In a deposition, Butterfield denied that anyone said anything after Smith got back in the car. [V13, 453-54]

Pearce drove back down 54 and turned south on U.S. 41. Smith turned around inside the car, pointed the .40 caliber pistol at Butterfield, and said, "Snitches are bitches and bitches deserve to die." [V13, 435, 447-48] Brittingham testified that Smith told them that if they said anything he would kill them. [V12, 477] Tuttle was putting on his hat after getting out of the car when everything went black. His next memory was getting up off the ground and walking up the road. He felt a hole in the back of his head and used his thumb to apply pressure to the wound. [V13, 405] driver picked him up and drove him to a convenience store. 406, 512-14] Deputies Lattice and Bruce went to the convenience store around 2:30 a.m. and found emergency medical technicians treating Tuttle. [V13, 515-17, 521-23] Bruce began interviewing the truck driver and another witness. Tuttle was airlifted to a hospital. [V13, 523-24] Meanwhile, Lattice was called to State Road 54. He found Crawford lying beside the road, breathing but unconscious. Emergency medical technicians arrived to treat him. Lattice began securing the scene, and Bruce and other officers arrived. [V13, 518-20, 524-26]

Crime scene technicians (CST) found and photographed two shell casings underneath Crawford's body. [V14, 553-54, 559-61] A videotape of the scene where Crawford's body was found showed only one shell casing. [V14, 543-51] CST Condit determined that the distance from the intersection of U.S. 41 and State Road 54 to the scene was 1.53 miles. [V14, 557-58]

Pearce stopped at a closed gas station and put the guns in the trunk. Pearce drove to a restaurant. He told Butterfield and Brittingham to go inside while he called Chip. [V13, 435-36, 477] Pearce drove to a grocery store and dropped off Butterfield and Brittingham. [V13, 436, 447, 478] Pearce drove to Chip's house. [V13, 448-49] Butterfield went across the street to call his girl-friend. [V13, 436, 449] Pearce and Smith returned and picked them up about 30 to 40 minutes later. [V13, 436, 449-50, 479] Pearce drove to the highest part of the Howard Franklin Bridge. Smith wrapped the .40 caliber pistol in newspaper and threw it off the bridge. [V13, 436-37, 479-80, 501]

Pearce drove back to his house. [V13, 437, 480] According to Butterfield, Smith went to the cottage where he was staying to pack so Pearce could drive him to the bus station. Butterfield went in Pearce's house, argued with his girlfriend, then went to bed with her. [V13, 437-38]

Brittingham drove Smith and his girlfriend Holly to the bus station, but they could not get tickets because of a hurricane.

[V13, 480-81] Brittingham took them to the Kent Grove area, then went home and fell asleep. [V13, 481, 501] Nathan Smith woke him up, then Brittingham drove to Damian Smith's house. [V13, 481]

Detective James Bucenell was called to the shooting scene on September 14. [V14, 645-46] He notified Crawford's family of his death. He spoke to Bryon Loucks at the Land O'Lakes substation. [V14, 647] He contacted Butterfield and brought him to the substa-[V14, 648] Butterfield testified that deputies woke him up at gunpoint and questioned him. He initially lied and told them he got out of Pearce's car on U.S. 41 before anything happened. [V13, 438, 444] Bucenell received a call from Detective Weekes, who had found Brittingham. Bucenell went there and spoke to Brittingham. 648-49; V13, 482] Bucenell contacted Butterfield's girlfriend and learned that Brittingham tried to get a bus to Missouri. [V14, 649] The girlfriend, Melissa Williams, pointed out two houses in Kent Groves where Smith might be located. [V14, 651] Bucenell got help from other officers so they could go to both houses at once, but they did not find Smith. [V14, 651-52] A man showed Bucenell another

¹ Defense counsel objected to the admission of hearsay. The prosecutor argued that the statement was offered not for the truth of the matter asserted, but to show how the officer located Smith. The court instructed the jury not to consider the statement for the truth of the matter asserted. [V14, 649]

house where the officers found and arrested Smith. [V14, 652-53] At the Sheriff's Office substation, Detective Moe interviewed Smith and told him he was under arrest for the attempted murder of Tuttle and the first-degree murder of Crawford. [V14, 665-66] Pearce surrendered to Moe eight days later. [V14, 665] Several days after the shooting, Moe showed Tuttle a photo pack containing Smith's photo, but Tuttle was not able to identify Smith. [V14, 667]

Dr. Marie Hansen, an associate medical examiner, went to the scene to observe the body, then conducted the autopsy at her office.

[V14 582, 587-88] The body was identified as Robert D. Crawford, age 17. [V14, 588] The prosecutor and defense counsel stipulated to Crawford's identity as the deceased. [V14, 669] Dr. Hansen found that one bullet entered the left side of the left arm, went at an upward angle through the arm muscles, broke the clavicle (collarbone), causing a piece of bone to make a hole in the side of the neck, and went up the neck to the back of the throat where it was recovered. [V14, 589, 591, 599-600] A second bullet entered the upper right side of the head, went through the brain at a slight downward angle, exited the left side of the head, and was recovered from the base of the right or left thumb.² [V14, 589-93, 597-98, 600] It was more likely that the wound through the arm occurred

 $^{^2}$ Dr. Hansen appeared to be confused about which thumb the bullet lodged in, testifying both that it was the right thumb and that it was the left thumb. [V14, 597]

before the wound to the head. Crawford could have survived the wound to the arm. The wound to the head would cause unconsciousness within 10 to 15 seconds and cessation of breathing within a couple of minutes. [V14, 602] The cause of death was multiple gunshot wounds. [V14, 603]

There was no stippling around the gunshot wounds, so the gun was either in contact with the skin, or it was fired from a distance of more than two to three feet. [V14, 603-04] Because there was no stippling on Crawford's shirt or hat, it was most likely that both gunshots were fired from more than two or three feet. [V14, 604-06]

CST Keppel attended the autopsy and received Crawford's clothing, a bullet recovered from his right hand, and a bullet recovered from his throat. [V14, 554-56] CST Whonsetler performed a gunshot residue test on Smith on September 14, but not on Butterfield, Brittingham, or Pearce. No evidence of the result of the test on Smith was presented. [V14, 573-75]

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