IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

LAWRENCE JOEY SMITH,

Appellant,

vs.

CASE NO. SC01-2103

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SIXTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR PASCO COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF THE APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

CANDANCE M. SABELLA
Senior Assistant Attorney General
Florida Bar I.D. No. 0134101
2002 North Lois Avenue, Suite 700
Tampa, Florida 33607
Phone: (813) 801-0600
Fax: (813) 356-1292

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

In <u>Pena v. State</u>, __ So. 2d __, 27 Fla. L. Weekly D1542 (2d DCA, July 3, 2002), the court through Judge Altenbernd disposed of a similar claim:

[4] Mr. Pena argues that the trial court committed fundamental error when it failed to swear the venire prior to jury selection. Florida Rule of Criminal

Procedure 3.300(a) requires that the members of the venire, the group of jurors from which a jury will be selected, each swear that they will truthfully answer all questions during jury selection. Mr. Pena does not cite any prior cases directly on point. Instead, he relies on cases holding that it is error for the trial court to fail to swear the trial jurors prior to the commencement of trial as required by Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.360. See Brown v. State, 29 Fla. 543, 10 So. 736 (1892); compare Fla. R.Crim. P. 3.300(a) with Fla. R.Crim. P. 3.360 (requiring jurors to swear they will truly try issues in case and render a true verdict according to law and evidence).

[5] In response, the State argues that it is a common practice for another judge or a deputy clerk to swear the potential jurors in another room, when they are part of a general jury pool, prior to the venire's assignment to any particular courtroom. Case law permits a trial judge to delegate to a deputy clerk the process of swearing potential jurors. See Johnson v. State, 660 So. 2d 648, 660 (Fla. 1995). From its own experience, this court is aware that the oath is sometimes given to the venire in another courtroom in presence of a different court reporter. Nevertheless, we cannot and will not rely on factual information about the jury selection process that is outside our record.

It is clear from our record that the trial judge did not swear the venire. It is clear that no lawyer asked the judge to swear the venire or to confirm that the potential jurors were already sworn. Mr. Pena has not alleged or proven by posttrial motions or affidavits that the venire was unsworn.

We are not required to decide whether it would be fundamental error to conduct a trial with members of a venire that had not been sworn. In this case, there is simply no record as to whether the venire was sworn. As a result, Mr. Pena is unable to demonstrate that the jurors from the venire were not sworn. He does not claim that any member of the venire gave untruthful answers during questioning. In this case, we merely hold that fundamental error is not established by a record that fails to demonstrate, one way or the other, whether the venire received the oath required by 3.300(a).

The instant claim does not constitute fundamental error and appellant is procedurally barred from urging on appeal a claim not preserved by objection in the lower court. In <u>Martin v. State</u>, __ So. 2d __, 27 Fla. L. Weekly D1008 (2d DCA, May 3, 2002), another case asserting as error the failure of the record to show the jurors were sworn prior to voir dire examination, the court ruled:

However, Martin failed to raise this objection at trial. Had counsel objected at trial the prospective jurors could have been sworn or if they had already been sworn, the judge could have noted that fact in the record. See Ellis v. State, 25 Fla. 702, 6 So. 768 (1889). In addition, Martin accepted the jury. selection issues are deemed waived after acceptance of the jury, unless the objection is renewed, or the jury is accepted subject to an earlier objections. See, e.g., Joiner v. State, 618 So. 2d 174 (Fla. 1993) (defendant waived any objection to prosecutor's use of peremptory strikes against minority jurors where, without reserving earlier objection, defense affirmatively accepted the jury immediately before it was sworn); Stripling v. State, 664 So. 2d 2 (Fla. 3d DCA 1995) (defense claims that trial court unduly restricted voir dire inquiry were not preserved for appellate review where defendant affirmatively accepted the jury and did not renew his objection at any time prior to swearing of the jury); Casimiro v. State, 557 So. 2d 223 (Fla. 3d DCA), rev. denied, 567 So. 2d 434 (Fla. 1990) (defendant waived all objections concerning jury composition when defendant accepted jury panel); Springer v. State, 513 So. 2d 736 (Fla. 3d DCA 1987) (if defendant objects before trial to possible interim service by one or more of his jurors, court must afford supplemental voir dire; however, that objection is waived if the defendant fails to raise or re-urge the objection before trial when supplemental voir dire could effectively be held).

The Martin court rejected a defense argument of fundamental error by noting that it had found no case so holding and similar claims have been held not to rise to the level of fundamental error, citing Fernandez v. State, 786 So. 2d 38 (Fla. 3d DCA 2001) (failure of contemporaneous objection precluded reversal where transcript did not reflect that interpreter took interpreter's oath and it was not fundamental error) Rodriguez v. State, 664 So. 2d 1077 (Fla. 3d DCA 1995) (failure to have interpreter sworn was not fundamental error, there was no contemporaneous objection, and the matter could have readily been cured if timely called to the attention of the trial See also, Lott v. State, __ So. 2d __, 27 Fla. L. court). Weekly D2038d (2d DCA, September 12, 2002) (Denying claim of ineffective assistance for failure to object to failure to place jurors under oath prior ro voir dire.)

In the instant case relief must be denied as there is no fundamental error and the asserted error is procedurally barred for the failure to contemporaneously object at trial⁵.

Since there is Florida law on this point it is unnecessary to study the nuances of Alabama law as suggested by appellant. Appellee would note that in <u>Fortner v. State</u>, 2001 WL 1148122 (Ala. Crim. App. Sept. 28, 2001), the Alabama Court of Criminal Appeals explained that the primary concern in <u>Ex parte Hamlett</u>, 815 So. 2d 499 (Ala. 2000), was the ineffective assistance of counsel claim (which the courts are reluctant to waive). <u>Fortner</u> upon narrowing its reading of <u>Hamlett</u> concluded that the separate claim that the jury venire or petit jury was not properly sworn is not jurisdictional and is waivable.

Alternatively, this Court could remand the case for an evidentiary hearing on this limited issue should it conclude that the record's failure to affirmatively demonstrate that the jurors were properly sworn requires further evidentiary development.

ISSUE IV

WHETHER APPELLANT IS ENTITLED TO A NEW PHASE **BECAUSE** PENALTY THE PROSECUTOR THE JURY AND COURT ON ALLEGEDLY MISLED WEIGHING AGGRAVATING STANDARD FOR AND MITIGATING CIRCUMSTANCES.

Appellant's next claim is that the prosecutor misled the jury and court on standard for weighing aggravating and mitigating circumstances by stating that the jury must recommend death if the aggravating circumstances outweigh the mitigating circumstances. It is the state's position that the claim is procedurally barred and, therefore, review is de novo. 6 Moreover, no reversible error has been shown, as the prosecutor

Although most issues are reviewed for abuse of discretion, since this claim was not presented to the court below and there is no trial court ruling to give deference to, the standard of review is de novo. cf. West v. State, 790 So. 2d 513, 514 (Fla. 5th DCA 2001) (Whether or not a claim is procedurally barred is reviewed de novo.) However, since the defendant has received the windfall of a more liberal standard of review, i.e. de novo, by failing to preserve the issue in the lower court, the higher burden for unpreserved error (must be a violation of due process going to the foundation of the case) must be strictly enforced or the result is that the contemporaneous objection rule becomes meaningless on appeal.

did not tell the jury they "must" or were "required" to return a death sentence and the trial court correctly instructed the jury pursuant to the standard jury instructions.

(A) <u>Prosecutor's remarks</u>

During voir dire the prosecutor made the following statement without defense objection (V10, T95-96):

Here's the situation. You found the existence of an aggravated circumstance or circumstances proven beyond a reasonable doubt. You found that that aggravating circumstance or circumstances justify the imposition of the death penalty. You go back to the evidence, you look to mitigating circumstances. If you find that there are no mitigating circumstances, your job is over. Your recommendation to the Court is the verdict of death.

If, however, after reviewing the evidence, you find the existence of mitigating circumstances, then the weighing process begins. And this is not a It's not, "Well, there's three game. aggravators over here, and four mitigators over here. Four versus three, four wins." It's not like that. It's a weighing situation. If you find, based upon weighing situation that the aggravating circumstances outweigh the mitigating circumstances, then your recommendation to the Court is one of death. If you find that the aggravating circumstances are outweighed by the mitigating circumstances, then your recommendation to the Court is one of life. * * *

During penalty phase closing argument, the prosecutor gave the following argument again without objection (V16, T921-923):

Those are the two groups, so to speak, that you must look at. The aggravating circumstances and the mitigating circumstances.

Now, again your first duty is to look to the evidence and determine whether or not one or more aggravating circumstances has been established beyond a reasonable doubt.

If you find from the evidence that one or more

aggravating circumstances has been established beyond a reasonable doubt, then your obligation is to - - if you find that none have been established rather, then your obligation is to return to the Court a recommendation of life.

If you find from your review of the evidence that one or more aggravating circumstances have been established beyond a reasonable doubt, then your obligation is to look to those aggravating circumstances and to determine whether or not the aggravating circumstances justify the imposition of the death penalty.

If your review of the aggravating circumstances does not, in your opinion, justify the imposition of the death penalty, then your responsibility is to return a recommendation of life. If however, you find from your review of the aggravating circumstances that they do justify the imposition of the death penalty, then you go to the evidence to determine whether or not there is mitigating factors - - or there are mitigating factors.

If you find no mitigating factors, if you find that the evidence is devoid of mitigation, then your obligation is to return a verdict to the judge recommending a sentence of death.

If your review of the evidence indicates to you the existence of mitigation, then your responsibility becomes one of weighing the factors against one another. If your deliberation leads to the conclusion that the mitigating factors outweigh the aggravating factors, your recommendation to the Court should be that Joey Smith live.

If you find, to the contrary, that the aggravating factors outweigh the mitigating factors, then your recommendation to the Court will be that Joey Smith die. (emphasis added)

The prosecutor did not tell the jury they "must" or were "required" to return a death sentence. Appellant's claim about the prosecutor's remarks is procedurally barred for the failure to interpose any objection below in the lower court. See e.g. Rogers v. State, 783 So. 2d 980, 1002 (Fla. 2001); Mordenti v.

State, 630 So. 2d 1080 (Fla. 1994); Steinhorst v. State, 412 So. 2d 332 (Fla. 1982); Occhicone v. State, 570 So. 2d 902 (Fla. 1990); Chandler v. State, 702 So. 2d 186, 195 (Fla. 1997); Zack v. State, 753 So. 2d 9, 22 (Fla. 2000); Goodwin v. State, 751 So. 2d 537, 544 (Fla. 1999) ("Our appellate cases are filled with examples of errors that are unpreserved either because no objection was made or because the objection was not specific. If the error is 'invited' or the defendant 'opens the door', the appellate court will not consider the error a basis for reversal"). Moreover, as a review of this Court's prior rulings on similar claims will establish, the statements made by the prosecutor here do not constitute harmful reversible error.

In <u>Henyard v. State</u>, 689 So. 2d 239 (Fla. 1996), this Court held that it was error for the prosecutor during voir dire to inform prospective jurors that if the evidence of aggravators outweighs mitigators their recommendation "must be" for death. The Court found no prejudice in this error because the misstatement was not repeated by the trial court when instructing the jury prior to penalty phase deliberations and Henyard did not contend that the jury was improperly instructed before making an advisory sentencing recommendation in the penalty phase. Thus, the error was harmless. <u>Id.</u> at 250.

In <u>Brooks v. State</u>, 762 So. 2d 879, 902 (Fla. 2000), the Court recited that the prosecutor gave an improper statement

when urging the jury must recommend a death sentence because "a jury is neither compelled nor required to recommend death where aggravating factors outweigh mitigating factors" but on defense counsel's objection the Court correctly informed the jury concerning the law relating to the weighing of aggravating and mitigating circumstances. And even if the initial misstatement by the prosecutor were viewed in isolation, it was harmless error. The Court reversed due to additional unrelated errors by the prosecutor.

In <u>Franqui v. State</u>, 804 So. 2d 1185 (Fla. 2001), this Court held that the defense had preserved the issue for appeal by contemporaneous objection since the trial court was apprised of the asserted error by defense objection and had the opportunity to correct the error at an early stage of the proceedings - unlike the instant case where there was no objection to voir dire or closing argument. <u>Id.</u> at 1192.

As in <u>Henyard</u>, the Court in <u>Franqui</u> found that it was error for the trial court to comment that the law required jurors to recommend death if the aggravators outweighed the mitigating circumstances but as in <u>Henyard</u> the error was not prejudicial because the trial court's subsequent comments to jurors during voir dire were consistent with the standard jury instructions and more importantly, did not repeat the misstatement of law when instructing the jury prior to its deliberations. The final

jury instructions were consistent with the standard jury instructions. The Court also gave a defense requested instruction that the weighing process was not a mere counting process of aggravators and mitigators but a reasoned judgment. Id. at 1193. The Court also found the lower court did not abuse its discretion in refusing to give an instruction on jury's pardon power. Id. at 1194.

In <u>Cox v. State</u>, __ So. 2d __, 27 Fla. L. Weekly S505, 508 (Fla. May 23, 2002), the Court again denied relief on a similar claim of prosecutorial misstatement. The Court noted that defense counsel did <u>not</u> object to the state's mischaracterization of the law at any time. Further:

Despite the lucidity of the law here, and the unavoidable conclusion that the prosecution's comments during Cox's trial were error, we hold that no fundamental error occurred in the instant case. Fundamental error reaches down into the validity of the trial itself to the extent that a verdict of guilty could not have been obtained without the assistance of the alleged error." Kilgore v. State, 688 So. 2d 895, 898 (Fla. 1996) (quoting State v. Delva, 575 So. 2d 643, 644-45 (Fla. 1991)). During voir dire, the prosecutor made the following additional statement:

Well, maybe I'm being a little simplistic here. What the law says is that you need to weigh the evidence against and it in the other direction, depending upon which way it balances out, that is supposed to decide recommendation. You're supposed to make your recommendation based on the weight. It's not worded that way, but that's a short rendition.

Also, the trial court did not repeat the prosecutor's misstatements of the law during its instruction of the jury - - indeed, the trial court's instructions properly informed the jury of its role under Florida law. Thus, the prosecutorial misrepresentation of the law was harmless error, and certainly does not constitute fundamental error. See Henyard, 689 So. 2d at 250 (holding that three of precisely the same prosecutorial misstatements of the law, when accompanied by correct jury instruction on the matter, were harmless error).

In the instant case, there was no defense objection to the prosecutor's remarks at voir dire or in closing argument⁷ and the trial court correctly instructed the jury pursuant to the standard jury instructions (V16, T972-974):

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